STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Abbeville County

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KEITH DENVER TATE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001694

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge's failure to declare a mistrial based upon the alleged victim's multiple emotional outbursts that disrupted the trial and improperly influenced the jury to decide the case on emotion instead of the evidence presented violate Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to a fair and impartial jury trial?

- II. Did the trial judge's failure to require the state to open in full during closing argument and reply only to the defense's closing argument violate Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to a fair trial and due process of law?

- III. Did the trial judge's refusal to permit Appellant to elicit testimony concerning the content of three illicit photographs found on the alleged victim's phone where the content was necessary for the jury to understand the alleged victim's motive to fabricate the allegations against Appellant violate Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to present a defense and confront his accuser?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 4, 2011, an Abbeville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for nine counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. R. 2, lines 15-20; R. 376 - 377. The state, represented by C. Yates Brown and Lance Sheek, called the case for trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury on May 27, 2014. Janna Nelson and Shane Goranson represented Appellant. R. 1. After a three-day trial, the jury acquitted Appellant of eight of the charges. However, the jury found Appellant guilty as to one (2011-GS-01-0046). R. 349, line 1 – R. 350, line 7. Thereafter, Judge Hocker sentenced Appellant to sixteen years' imprisonment. R. 351, lines 20-22; R. 392.

After the trial, Appellant filed a timely motion for new trial. R. 368 – R. 372. A hearing on the motion commenced on July 15, 2014 before Judge Hocker. R. 352. Judge Hocker denied the motion by a written order. R. 373. Appellant then filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and Minor's mother were involved in a romantic relationship and had a child in common. In 2009 and 2010, Appellant and Minor's mother lived in a three bedroom apartment in Calhoun Falls. Minor and her two brothers, one of whom was Appellant's son, lived in the apartment as well. R. 12, line 1 – R. 14, line 16; R. 69, line 17 – R. 70, line 2. The apartment had three bedrooms, one bathroom, a living room, and a kitchen. R. 22, lines 7-17; R. 253, lines 5-9. There were two doors going in and out of the apartment – one in the front and one in the kitchen. The front door led to the living room. Both doors were visible from the kitchen and living room. R. 22, line 18 – R. 23, line 8. The apartment was not carpeted, but had a tile floor. The walls were cinderblock. R. 34, lines 7-15; R. 253, line 9; R. 253, line 19.

On March 23, 2010, twelve-year old Minor began dating fifteen-year old Terrance C. Minor's mother did not approve of the relationship and would not let her talk to him and would not let Minor visit Terrance in his home. R. 34, lines 16-24; R. 48, line 15 – R. 49, line 17; R. 69, lines 8-11; R. 105, lines 7-17; R. 161, lines 18-24. On August 14 and 15, Minor received three photographs of Terrance on her phone. The photographs showed Terrance completely nude and with an erect penis. Shortly thereafter, Appellant and Minor's mother discovered the photographs on her phone. Unsurprisingly, they were very concerned and punished Minor. Additionally, they informed Terrance's parents of the photographs. R. 36, lines 9-13; R. 37, line 11 – R. 41, line 13; R. 42, line 11 – R. 45, line 24; R. 162, line 10 – R. 163, line 7; R. 248, line 11 – R. 249, line 18; R. 368 – R. 372.

Less than ten days later, on August 23, 2010, Minor told her band director, Rebecca Holland, that Appellant had sexually assaulted her ten times. R. 107, lines 15-23; R. 163,

lines 13-17; R. 168, lines 13-24; R. 169, lines 5-11; R. 169, lines 19-23. “[B]ecause it was so late in the afternoon, there were no people at the school” for Holland to make a report; therefore, she decided she would address the matter the following day at school. R. 169, line 25 – R. 170, line 5; R. 172, lines 17-20. Holland took Minor to her home, where Appellant lived.¹ R. 172, lines 10-13. Holland took Minor home from school every day because she lived nearby. Holland claimed that Minor would cry on the way to her house, but Holland never inquired as to why. Minor would ask not to go home. Holland also claimed that she would see Appellant waiting for Minor and he would grab Minor by the arm when she arrived home. R. 170, line 23 – R. 171, line 20; R. 172, lines 14-16. Subsequently on August 25, 2010, Holland informed Lori Lindler, the school’s guidance counselor and the assistant principal, about the allegations. R. 107, line 24 – R. 108, line 7; R. 171, lines 21-23; R. 183, lines 6-16. Lindler contacted the police. R. 108, lines 8-10; R. 185, lines 23-24.

Lindler sat down at school with Minor to review the details of her allegations. During their meeting, the two used a school calendar to arrive at ten dates when Appellant allegedly assaulted Minor, including August 26, 2009, October 31, 2009, December 14, 2009, December 26, 2010, February 6, 2010, February 13, 2010, March 3, 2010, March 14, 2010, March 15, 2010, and March 18, 2010.² R. 78, line 18 – R. 79, line 10; R. 79, line 18 – R. 80, line 16; R. 101, lines 21-25; R. 164, line 16 – R. 165, line 3; R. 184, lines 7 – R. 185,

¹ The testimony on this point was conflicting. Minor said she talked to Holland at school and talked to Lindler the same day. R. 108, lines 11-17. However, Holland and Lindler indicated otherwise.

² Minor told the nurse that she could remember the dates because she wrote about it in her diary. However, her diary did not contain entries for each of the encounters and did not contain details about the abuse. Instead, the diary contained poetry about her feelings. R. 124, lines 2-10.

line 1.³ Although Minor told Lindler about sexual abuse, she never claimed any type of physical abuse was occurring. R. 187, lines 8-17. The day after Minor talked to the school officials and police officers, her mother took her to the hospital. R. 110, lines 21-24. Minor also met with a lady at Child's Place on September 28, 2010. R. 111, lines 6-13; R. 259, lines 21-25. Months later, in November 2010, Minor was examined by Dr. Lyle Pritchard. R. 112, lines 7-18; R. 227, lines 3-11.

Initially, Minor claimed that on each of those occasions, Appellant penetrated her vagina. R. 79, lines 14-17. However, later, Minor claimed penetration of her vagina with his penis during every encounter except the last one. On that date, he put his penis in her mouth. R. 88, lines 10-18. She also changed her story to say that she recalled him putting his penis in her "butt hole." R. 88, lines 19-21. Minor testified that she bled the first time Appellant penetrated her vagina and when he penetrated her butt hole. R. 88, line 24 – R. 89, line 2.

Concerning the first alleged assault, Minor claimed this occurred at home while her mother and brothers were there. Minor claimed Appellant assaulted her in the living room on the couch. During her testimony, Minor claimed Appellant asked to see the sizes of her bra and panties. Then, he started kissing her and rubbing her. Appellant then removed her clothes and penetrated her vagina with his penis. R. 82, lines 17-24; R. 83, lines 4-6; R. 83, line 10 – R. 84, line 11; R. 87, lines 1-8. Minor previously said that during the first alleged

³ Despite the dates testified to at trial, the warrants and incident report differed to some degree. For example, the first incident was alleged to have occurred on August 29, 2009, not August 26, 2009 and another incident allegedly occurred on February 14, 2010, not February 13, 2010. R. 206, lines 9-14; R. 209, lines 15-21. Initially, Minor said that all ten incidents occurred in Calhoun Falls. However, immediately before trial, she changed her story to say the incident on December 26, 2009 occurred in Greenville County. R. 106, lines 1-14; R. 207, lines 2-12.

encounter, Appellant threw her on the couch and hit her in the face with his fist. R. 139, lines 20-25; R. 275, line 4 – R. 276, line 7. She also claimed that she screamed during this attack. Tr. 203, lines 8-10. She claimed there was blood everywhere. R. 140, lines 11-12.

Regarding the second alleged assault, Minor testified there was a football game on October 30, 2009. R. 126, lines 22-24; R. 128, lines 4-8.⁴ Minor did not recall saying that Appellant “stuck it up [her] butt” that time, but she remembered that she screamed and Appellant hit her busting her lip. R. 128, lines 9-14. Previously, Minor had stated Appellant “stuck it up her butt.” R. 276, lines 19-21. The next morning, Minor woke up on the couch in the living room to an empty house. Her shorts were up, but her underwear were down. Her shirt was on a lamp. R. 131, lines 1-21; R. 277, lines 16-24; R. 279, lines 14 – R. 280, line 3. She admitted that anyone who left the apartment would have had to walk right by her in her disheveled state. R. 132, lines 23-25. Although the following morning would have been a Saturday based on the date, Minor told the interviewer that she had missed her ride to school that day and her mother had to give her ride. She also told the interviewer that her brothers were gone because their bus arrived at 7:00 a.m. R. 278, lines 1-8.

Regarding the last incident, Minor claimed that Appellant put her on the couch, took out his penis and placed it in her mouth. She bit his penis and he started screaming. She

⁴ Minor claimed the football game on October 30, 2009 was a home game. However, a school calendar showed the game was away in Twiggs County, Georgia. R. 134, line 9 – R. 135, line 1. Then, Minor changed her story to say it may have been after a Junior Varsity football game. R. 135, lines 11-16.

then ran to her room and placed her dresser in front of the door. R. 145, line 22 – R. 146, line 16.⁵

Minor's mother never saw or heard anything that made her suspect any kind of sexual abuse. R. 20, lines 18-21. Minor's mother never heard any screaming in the house. R. 21, lines 22-24

Supposedly, Minor told Terrance that Appellant had sexually assaulted her months before he told his mother about the alleged abuse on August 26, 2010. Terrance's mother told the school counselor, Lindler. R. 53, lines 9-25; R. 58, line 18 – R. 59, line 4; R. 73, line 23 – R. 74, line 1; R. 78, lines 5-19; R. 106, lines 17-23; R. 183, lines 17-21. According to Terrance, Minor claimed that during the first assault "he went through her anal and she screamed," then he stopped and "went through the front." Minor told Terrance that her brother walked in during the assault. When Minor told her brother to get her mother, Appellant told him no, whipped the brother, and slapped Minor. Thereafter, Minor "passed out and woke up in a tub full of bloody water." R. 54, line 4 – R. 55, line 16.⁶ Minor told Terrance that during the most recent assault, Appellant "walked in her room one night and snatched his pants down and hers." R. 56, line 13 – R. 57, line 2. One night while Appellant was assaulting Minor, Terrance sent a text message to Minor's phone. The phone was in the bedroom with Minor's mother and the text message indication woke Minor's

⁵ According to the Executive Director of the South Carolina Housing Authority, the apartment where Minor lived had bedroom doors with locks. R. 253, lines 13-17. This was according to HUD regulations. R. 254, line 25 – R. 255, line 3. The apartments were inspected annually to ensure all remained in line with the regulations. R. 255, lines 20-24.

⁶ Minor denied that her brother ever walked in on one of the alleged sexual assaults. R. 152, lines 15-19. However, Minor agreed that she passed out and woke up in a tub full of bloody water. R. 152, lines 20-22; R. 153, lines 12-20. Minor told Holland that she woke up in bloody water ten times – after each incident. R. 175, lines 10-18.

mother. When this happened, Appellant stopped the alleged assault. R. 57, lines 3-13.⁷ Minor told Terrance that “one night when she was asleep [Appellant] put his private part in her mouth and she bit it.” Appellant “got mad and grounded her.” Minor claimed that Appellant would not stop the abuse even if she were bleeding. She further claimed “that blood was on the sheets, and it was coming out quick, but he wouldn’t stop.” R. 57, line 17 – R. 58, line 3.

⁷ Minor denied this occurred. R. 160, lines 17-24; R. 161, lines 8-11.

ARGUMENT

I. Violating Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to a fair and impartial trial, the judge erred in failing to declare a mistrial based upon the alleged victim's multiple emotional outbursts that disrupted the trial and improperly influenced the jury to decide the case on emotion instead of the evidence presented.

Relevant facts

During defense counsel's opening statement to the jury, Minor became visibly and audibly upset. The outburst was so extreme that defense counsel stopped her remarks to the jury: "Your Honor, it looks like - - it looks like [Minor] is upset and I don't want that to distract the jury." R. 9, lines 21-24. Thereafter, the judge called the lawyers to the bench, but provided no instruction to the jury. The opening statement continued, followed immediately by the calling of the state's first witness. R. 9, lines 23-25. When the jury was out of the courtroom during a recess, the judge placed on the record that Minor was emotional during defense counsel's argument. Surprisingly, the judge indicated "the court has no problem with that." However, the judge noted that "if that's still a recurring problem then I think we ought to agree that she needs not to be in the courtroom because of the potential nature it has to be disruptive." R. 28, lines 9-21. Again, no instruction was provided to the jury concerning Minor's emotional outburst.

During the state's direct examination of Minor, the state asked if Minor needed to take a short break, and she responded that she did. The judge agreed to take a break. R. 84, lines 12-22. Thereafter, the state inquired of the judge regarding how to "handle this." According to the state, it was very difficult for everybody and he did not "want to sit her up there while she's crying in front of the jury." R. 84, line 23 – R. 85, line 3. The judge

responded that it was evident that Minor was having difficulty testifying, but stated she “was going to have to do the best job that she can.” He further stated that she was “going to have to, you know, try to - - you know, try not to be emotional.” R. 85, lines 4-10.

The judge then addressed Minor directly: “I know this is difficult for you to testify. I understand that. But it’s really important that you do the very best that you can and there is a lot to cover in questions that will be asked of you. So you just need to do the very best that you can so we can get through your testimony.” R. 86, lines 18-24. When the jury returned, Minor’s direct examination continued with no instruction for the jury concerning how to consider, if at all, Minor’s emotional outbursts.

Well into the cross-examination, Minor stated she did not “want to keep talking about it.” R. 155, line 3. When asked if she could continue, Minor requested a break. R. 155, lines 4-7. The judge excused the jury and permitted Minor to have a break. R. 155, lines 8-21. With the jury excused, the judge remarked that he realized Minor was emotional, but he noted “it’s being disruptive.” He instructed the prosecutors to “go out there and talk to her.” R. 155, lines 22-25. Preempting defense counsel’s motion for a mistrial based upon Minor’s outbursts, the judge noted that while he was “not being unsympathetic,” he had “to maintain decorum in this courtroom.” He could not “tolerate the witness storming out of the courtroom in the manner in which she did.” Concerning the jurors, the judge’s explanation was confusing and contradictory: “I think probably the vast majority, if not all of the jurors, were back in the courtroom, or most of them at least were back in there when that took place.” He continued that he hoped the solicitors had explained to Minor that he could not “allow that sort of conduct.” R. 156, lines 7-21.

Defense counsel then moved for a mistrial “because of the pretty extreme display of emotion that was going on while [Minor] was sobbing as the jury left the jury box and while the door back there behind the jury box was still open she started yelling out for her mother.” Defense counsel could not “imagine that even if the jury was right down the hall in their room that they would not have heard that demonstration.” Minor’s repeated and extreme emotional outbursts could be construed only as prejudicial and attempting to influence the outcome of the case based on emotion, not evidence. R. 156, line 25 – R. 157, line 12. Defense counsel further noted that Minor’s emotional conduct began during the opening statements. R. 158, lines 13-25.

In denying the mistrial motion, the trial judge noted “we’ve had a lot of emotion displayed by this witness throughout her testimony, a lot of crying, I think she’s gone through a good many Kleenexes. We have had to take a break or two.” Nevertheless, the judge determined Minor’s repeated and extreme emotional outbursts were “not the amount and type of prejudice that would justify a pretty severe remedy of declaring a mistrial.” R. 158, lines 3-12.⁸

During closing argument, defense counsel tried to anticipate the state’s closing argument specifically regarding Minor’s emotional state during her testimony. Defense

⁸ Appellant renewed the motion for a mistrial in the written motion for new trial. R. 368 – R. 372. Appellant argued he was entitled to a new trial based on the trial judge’s failure to grant a mistrial based on Minor’s “several extreme emotional reactions throughout the course of the trial.” Appellant explained Minor “cried several times while testifying, and broke down sobbing during cross-examination.” Further, Appellant noted that when the jury was exiting the courtroom, Minor “ran from the courtroom yelling for her mother.” Appellant argued Minor’s emotional reactions prejudiced the jury. Further, Appellant argued the judge failed to give the jury a curative instruction to disregard the emotional display and decide the case only on the facts presented. R. 368 – R. 372.

counsel “thought that maybe one of the things that might be said is that [Minor] has been revictimized or retraumatized by having to come in here and tell you what happened.” Defense counsel informed the jury it was not her intent to do that. She further explained that a defendant has the right to confront his accusers pursuant to the Constitution, which is what defense counsel was doing. R. 307, line 16 – R. 308, line 6. Concerning the emotional outbursts, defense counsel reminded the jury “[t]he first time you see [Minor]’s emotional reaction is when I was giving you my opening statement and telling you how I was going to be talking about these different versions of her story. And when she knew that was going to happen she got upset. And when it happened on the stand she got upset.” The jury could interpret the outbursts, and their timing, “one of two ways.” Either Minor “was crying because what happened to her was so horrible and she doesn’t like having to go through it again or she’s crying because somebody is pointing out the problems with the things she’s saying and the reason you shouldn’t believe it, and that – and that is difficult for her.” R. 308, lines 16-23.

The prosecutor’s closing argument immediately responded to the argument regarding why the case was being tried: “I’ll never make an apology for that because I’m not ashamed to be doing what I’m doing here today. ... I will prosecute these cases.” R. 315, lines 14-19. He then said the defense had a different ethical obligation than he because he represented the people, while defense counsel represented the defendant. R. 316, lines 3-12. After apologizing for getting “a little bit wound up,” the prosecutor explained, “This is what I do. I prosecute crimes where children are victims and I believe it whole heartedly.” R. 316, lines 12-15. He further preached, “As long as I have breath in my body I will stand

up for the victims of these types of crimes and I will never be ashamed of it.” R. 316, lines 23-25.

When describing how the jury could judge Minor’s credibility, the solicitor asked the jury to remember Minor’s “raw emotion.” Specifically, he focused on when she told defense counsel she did not “want to think about it.” He continued:

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