ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001694

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

KEITH DENVER TATE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

FEB 16 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

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

Why do they have to know it’s his private parts? I realize this is - - this is a case involving sexual allegations. I understand that. And that she has made allegations against the Defendant of sexual in nature. I understand that. But why does the jury has to know that there are sexual pictures on her phone giving her the motive to fabricate these allegations?

ROA. p. 38. The Solicitor offered, “To give you a good example, Your Honor, let’s say she was actually caught engaging in intercourse with [T.C.] and that was the basis for some discipline, the Rape Shield still applies. You can’t get into you had sex with [T.C.] and that’s why you got in trouble, isn’t it.” The Solicitor continued, “They couldn’t do that. So why can they go into the fact that there was this picture on the phone?” ROA. p. 39. Defense Counsel maintained that the content of the pictures was relevant because it goes to motive and why the Victim could fabricate the allegations. ROA. p. 39.

The trial judge ruled:

I don’t really see much of a difference in them seeing pictures or being told that there are pictures of his male private parts. I mean, they can - - if it’s male private parts they can envision in their mind what the pictures show. I just don’t - - I think you can certainly ask if there were pictures on

the phone concerning [T.C.] that the mom disapproved of, but if he did, but I don't think we need to tell the jury that they are actually [T.C.'s] private areas. I don't think the jury needs to know that. I don't see where there's any relevance. You can still argue motive, because she got into trouble allegedly over these pictures on the cell phone. . . .But the jury is not going to know that there were pictures of his private area.

ROA. p. 40. The trial judge later continued, "I think motive can be established without the jury knowing that the pictures were of male genitalia. So the question is - - I guess the objection by the State is sustained." ROA. p. 42.

Following a proffer of Mother's testimony by the defense, the judge clarified the scope of what Defense Counsel could ask regarding the pictures, stating, "So the ruling is that nothing can be mentioned to the jury out of what the actual pictures show. Certainly the use of the word inappropriate, if that's the word of choice to describe the pictures. I'll allow that. But they will not be told actually what the pictures show." ROA. p. 44. Defense Counsel subsequently asked Mother "And did there come a time when you saw at least one inappropriate photograph of [T.C.] on [Victim's] phone?" ROA. p. 45. Mother responded that she had seen the photograph and talked to T.C.'s parents about it, who also agreed the picture was inappropriate. ROA. p. 45. Mother later testified that Appellant was the one who made her aware of the inappropriate photographs. ROA. pp. 46-47.

During Defense Counsel's cross-examination of Victim, Victim was asked whether her phone had three inappropriate pictures of T.C. on it. ROA. p. 162. Victim responded that it did. ROA. p. 162. The pictures were subsequently discovered by Appellant and Mother. ROA. pp. 162-163. Defense Counsel asked Appellant whether she got in trouble for the photographs, and Victim replied that she did. ROA. p. 163. Defense Counsel then asked Victim whether her phone had been taken away when Appellant and

Mother found the pictures, and Victim replied that it had been. ROA. p. 163. Defense Counsel also asked Victim whether it was ten days after Appellant's discovery of the pictures when she disclosed Appellant's abuse to Holland and Lindler. ROA. p. 163. Victim did not recall the specific number of days but agreed that the disclosure occurred a short time after the phone incident. ROA. p. 163.

One of the witnesses called by the defense was Bart Cave. ROA. p. 246. Cave works in the computer crime center at SLED. ROA. p. 247. Cave was involved in Appellant's case because SLED received phones that needed to be examined. ROA. p. 248. Defense Counsel asked Cave whether any of the phones contained inappropriate photographs. Cave discovered three inappropriate pictures on one of the phones. ROA. p. 248. Defense Counsel also asked Cave what the dates were of the photographs on the phone. ROA. p. 249. Cave explained that there is a date and time associated with the pictures of when they were on the device. ROA. p. 249. Cave testified photographic files showed dates of August 14, 2010, and August 15, 2010. ROA. p. 249.

During closing argument, in trying to convince the jury Victim fabricated the allegations against Appellant, Defense Counsel cited Victim's relationship with T.C. as the motivation for Victim to lie. ROA. p. 312. Defense Counsel attempted to paint a picture where Victim somehow perceived Appellant as an obstacle to her relationship with T.C. ROA. pp. 312-313. Defense Counsel argued:

And then the culmination of all that is when those inappropriate pictures turn up on the phone on August 14th and 15th. Mr. Cave told you about. [Victim] - - one of the things she was able to admit to was those pictures on her phone. Her mother admitted to seeing those. Her phone gets taken away. It gets talked about with [T.C.'s] parents. And then, just, what, a week and a half later. The pictures are there the 14th and 15th, so they've got to be found some time after that while they're at Blue Hole. And then on August 23rd all of this starts coming out. And then Keith is gone. The

person who was awake most of the time, who stayed with the kids when [Mother] went to the hospital. . . . But he - - he's out of the picture and the boyfriend problem won't be a problem anymore. And then [Victim] at some point starts using contraceptives, and then in November there's an exam that shows some sort of penetration. So that's the only thing I know of to point to explain to you why this would have started coming up.

ROA. p. 313. When discussing the State's medical evidence during her closing, Defense Counsel also emphasized the fact that Victim was using contraceptives. ROA. p. 309.

Discussion

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in refusing to allow Appellant to elicit testimony that the photographs on Victim's phone showed T.C.'s genitals. Appellant argues the trial judge's ruling is violative of his constitutional rights to present a defense and to confront his accuser. Appellant asserts the content was necessary for the jury to understand Victim's purported motive to fabricate the allegations against Appellant. The State submits that this argument is without merit. The trial judge's limitation of questioning regarding the photographs to whether there were inappropriate pictures of T.C. on Victim's phone allowed the defense ample opportunity to argue Victim's punishment for the photographs motivated her to fabricate the allegations against Appellant. Furthermore, allowing Defense Counsel the opportunity to elicit testimony about the specific content would have violated the Rape Shield Law. Finally, the evidence was inadmissible under Rule 401, SCRE, and Rule 403, SCRE, as the evidence was irrelevant and any probative value of the evidence was substantially outweighed by the evidence's potential for undue prejudice.

Firstly, the trial judge did not err in refusing to allow Appellant to elicit testimony that the photographs on Victim's phone showed T.C.'s genitals because the defense was still able to effectively argue Victim's punishment stemming from the photographs was

the motive for her to fabricate the allegations against Appellant. The trial judge's limitation on Appellant's questioning did not implicate his constitutional rights to present a defense and to confront his accuser whatsoever. The Confrontation Clause guarantees that "in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend. VI. This right to confront and cross-examine witnesses "is essential to a fair trial in that it promotes reliability in criminal trials, and insures that convictions will not result from testimony of individuals who cannot be challenged at trial." State v. Martin, 292 S.C. 437, 439, 357 S.E.2d 21, 22 (1987). The Confrontation Clause "guarantees only an opportunity for effective cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish." United States v. Owens, 484 U.S. 554, 559 (1988) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Appellant was able to fully and vigorously cross-examine all witnesses presented by the State. Appellant's rights of confrontation and right to present a defense were not implicated whatsoever, and the judge's limitation of questioning regarding the photographs on Victim's phone still enabled the defense to argue motive. Defense Counsel was able to ask both Mother and Victim about "inappropriate photographs of T.C." found on Victim's phone. Defense Counsel also asked whether T.C.'s parents were contacted, whether punishment was doled out, and what the time and date of the pictures were. The inappropriate pictures found on Victim's phone were one of the major pieces of evidence relied upon by Defense Counsel in her closing argument. The trial judge's ruling that Defense Counsel not be allowed to question witnesses as to what specifically these "inappropriate pictures" contained did not impugn Appellant's defense whatsoever. The defense could, and did,

argue fully that the inappropriate pictures provided Victim a motive to fabricate the allegations against Appellant. Thus, Appellant's right to confrontation and right to present a defense were not violated. Furthermore, any alleged error in the trial judge's ruling regarding the content of the photographs was harmless, as Appellant suffered no prejudice. Appellant was still able to fully argue that Victim had a motive to fabricate these allegations by asking Victim, Mother, and Cave about the inappropriate pictures found on Victim's phone. Defense Counsel was able to vigorously argue throughout closing argument that Victim was a "storyteller" who had a very strong motive to fabricate the allegations.

Secondly, allowing Appellant to elicit testimony concerning the content of the inappropriate photographs would have been violative of the Rape Shield Statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-659.1(1) provides, "Evidence of specific instances of the victim's sexual conduct, opinion evidence of the victim's sexual conduct, and reputation evidence of the victim's sexual conduct is not admissible in prosecutions under Sections 16-3-615 and 16-3-652 to 16-3-656." Allowing Defense Counsel to elicit testimony that Victim had photographs of T.C.'s penis on her phone would enable her to reference specific instances of Victim's sexual conduct. Furthermore, Defense Counsel's statements during closing arguments emphasizing the fact Victim was using contraceptives evinces a clear intent to attempt to point to other specific incidents of Victim's sexual conduct that could explain the transection in her hymen that was discovered during her examination by Dr. Pritchard.

Thirdly, the evidence was inadmissible under Rule 401, SCRE, and Rule 403, SCRE, as the evidence was irrelevant and any probative value of the evidence was

substantially outweighed by the evidence's potential for undue prejudice. All relevant evidence is admissible, and only relevant evidence should be admitted at trial. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 430, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2006); see Rule 402, SCRE ("All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, these rules, or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible."). "Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears." State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991); see Rule 401, SCRE ("'Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.").

However, even if relevant, evidence must be excluded from trial if its probative value is **substantially outweighed** by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009); see Rule 403, SCRE ("Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence."). The determination of the probative value of evidence relative to its potential prejudicial effect must be based on the entire record and the result generally hinges on the facts of each particular case. State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007). Probative value is the measure of the importance of a piece of evidence's tendency to prove or disprove some fact or issue relevant to the outcome of a case. State v. Collins,

398 S.C. 197, 202, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754 (Ct. App. 2012), *rev'd on other grounds*, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014). Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis. State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000).

The content of the photographs on Victim's phone was not relevant whatsoever. The content of the photographs had no bearing on the proceeding, and did not make the existence of any fact that was of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. The only stated purpose the defense offered for the pictures was that they were relevant to the alleged motive of Victim to fabricate the allegations. The specific content of the pictures was not relevant whatsoever to Victim's alleged motive. The existence of the photographs themselves and Victim's punishment for possessing them are the only relevant evidence that goes towards motive.

Appellant's comparisons of the current case to State v. Grovenstein, 340 S.C. 210, 530 S.E.2d 406 (Ct. App. 2000) are inapposite. As noted by Appellant, the Grovenstein Court held that evidence of a child victim's prior sexual experience is relevant to demonstrate that the defendant is not necessarily the source of the victim's ability to testify about alleged sexual conduct. Id. at 219. However, whether Victim was familiar with the sexual conduct that was alleged was not an issue in the proceeding. In State v. Williams, 409 S.C. 455, 761 S.E.2d 770 (2014), Williams argued the trial court erred in excluding evidence of prior sexual abuse of a victim by the victim's stepbrother. The Court found the situation distinguishable from that in Grovenstein, ruling the evidence Williams sought to admit did not provide an alternate explanation as to how the victims

were familiar with the sexual conduct they alleged Williams to have committed because the allegations against Williams were not similar to the alleged abuse by the victims' stepbrother. Id. at 466. The Court emphasized that Williams was accused of digitally penetrating the victims, while the victim's stepbrother allegedly forced the victim to perform oral sex. Id. The Court noted that the fact that the victim was previously forced to perform oral sex would not show a source of the victim's ability to testify about the defendant's acts of digital penetration. Id. As in Williams, the contents of the photographs were not similar whatsoever to the abuse committed by Appellant. The fact that Appellant had nude photographs of her boyfriend did not show a source of the victim's ability to testify about instances of sexual abuse by Appellant. Furthermore, the issue of whether the evidence was relevant to demonstrate an alternate explanation as to how Victim was familiar with various aspects of sex is not preserved for appellate review. Defense Counsel's stated reason for why the content of the photographs should be admissible all revolved around Victim's motive and credibility. ROA. pp. 36-39, 41. Defense Counsel never argued to the trial judge that the content of the photographs was relevant to establish the child had an alternate source of sexual knowledge. "In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003).

Whatever probative value, if any, the evidence had was substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice and misleading the jury. The admission of the content of the photographs would have had an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper

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